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Chinsegut Hill, Gift for Perpetuity?

Raymond and Margaret Dreier Robins



The original owner of the hilltop, 

Byrd Pearson (1803-1860) brought 

his wife and four children from 

South Carolina in 1845. The 1850 

census for Benton County (now 

Hernando, Pasco and Citrus) 

shows him as a lawyer and planter, 

owning 30 slaves. In 1851, a visitor 

and son of Alabama's Governor 

Clay wrote home describing 

“comfortable log cabins and a 

summit crowned with orange, 

lemon and fig trees”. 



He had 75 acres in corn and 75 

sugar cane planted on old Indian 

fields that sloped down to Lake 

Lindsey. Later that year he sold his 

land and moved his family to 

Jacksonville. One of his daughters 

married Francis Philip Fleming, 

Governor of Florida who served 

from 1889 to1893.

He had 75 acres in corn and 75 sugar 

cane planted on old Indian fields that 

sloped down to Lake Lindsey. Later in 

1852 he sold his land and moved his 

family to Jacksonville. One of his 

daughters married Francis Philip Fleming, 

Governor of Florida who served from 

1889 to1893.



Byrd Pearson sold the hilltop, 

which he called Mt Airy, to 

Francis Ederington in 1851. 

The Ederingtons moved their 

three daughters, animals, 

household goods and their 

slaves down the long wagon 

trek from South Carolina to 

Chinsegut Hill. They had an 

additional eight children before 

their deaths. The oldest 

daughter, Charlotte (1846-98) 

was left to raise her young 

siblings. She is shown here 

with her husband Dr J R Snow. 

The homestead was renamed 

Snow Hill after their marriage. 

Many descendants of the 

Ederington and Snow families 

still live in the surrounding 

area!



Snow Hill was used as a 

plantation house that 

cultivated citrus and 

sugarcane.  Slaves lived 

and worked on the site.  

One of the slaves was 

Lizzie Washington (left).  

After the Civil War, the site 

was used for cotton and 

other crops, but fell into 

disrepair in the late 1880s.  



The house was moved 6 degrees off its foundation, possibly by 

[Topical Storm #1 of August 2]  1898.



The Manor house as it 

appeared in 1905 when 

the Robins first arrived as 

new owners.  A young 

Raymond Robins (1873-

1956) with his long time 

friend Fielder Harris 

(1850-1924) are uncrating 

furniture on this day. Off 

to the right side is 

Margaret Dreier Robins. 

The photo was taken by 

Elizabeth Robins, 

Raymond's older sister.



Elizabeth Robins, 

Raymond's 

senior by ten 

years was a 

British actress, 

author and 

photographer.  

Elizabeth actually 

funded the 

purchase of the 

initial 213 acres -

including the 

manor house. 

She gave a half 

interest to 

Raymond and 

Elizabeth as a 

wedding gift in 

1905.



Chinsegut Hill is 

located north of 

Brooksville in 

historic Hernando 

County. 



Map



Raymond is standing behind 

Fielder Harris, who was born 

a slave in Abbeville County 

SC, and came here as a 

freed man in the 1880s. He 

went to work for relatives of 

the Robins (McKays on 

Bodine Grove, now 

Ahhochee Hill) then for 

Raymond beginning in 1905 

until his death in 1924. He 

and his family are buried in 

Lake Lindsey Cemetery. 



Fielder Harris in front of Chinsegut Manor house in 1905…



…which was the home of Raymond and 

Margaret Robins and Lisa Von Borowsky.

Photo circa 1932



History welcomes you to Chinsegut Hill
A presentation by Andrew Huse, USF, who secured 

its place on a National Heritage Landmark.



Dedicated December 2003



The stately 

mansion has 

stood for over 

164 years, one 

of Florida’s 

oldest surviving 

plantation 

houses at one of 

Florida’s highest 

elevations (274 

feet) , and the 

oldest home in 

Hernando 

County.



Congress encouraged white settlers to live in the area after 

the Second Seminole War under the Armed Occupation Act.  

One such settler was Byrd Murphy Pearson, who purchased 

the land in 1842 and erected the manor’s east wing in 1849.  

The East Wing housed the kitchen over the years.  A kitchen 

separate from the main house allowed the residence to 

remain cool in summer and reduced fire risks.



The East Wing, 

was built  by a 

shipbuilder with 

wooden pegs.  It 

also houses 

Hernando County’s 

first basement.



The site’s most prominent owner was Colonel Raymond Robins. .  

(b. Sept. 7, 1873, Staten Island, NY) As a boy on a poor Fl. farm 

he vowed to own the estate then known as “Snow Hill.”  When he 

fulfilled his dream in 1905, he called the hill “Chinsegut,” which 

legend says is an Inuit word for “the place where lost things are 

found.” He picked up the word while working as a gold miner and 

missionary in Alaska in the late 1890s. For more, read: Raymond 

and I by Elizabeth Robins, 1956.



The Robinses married after a whirlwind romance, June 

21,1905.  On the left, they visit with Margaret’s sisters 

shortly after marrying.  On the right, the couple pose in 

the garden, circa 1930.



Mary Dreier, Raymond and Margaret Dreier Robins soon after their wedding, 1905.



The Robinses hired 

Aunt Lizzie to work for 

them and she spent the 

rest of her life at 

Chinsegut Hill.  She is 

buried at Lake Lindsey 

Cemetery next to 

Fielder and his family.

Aunt Lizzie Washington 

was born in slavery as 

Elizabeth Carr in 1849 

in Abbeville district, 

SC.

Ederington traded a 

piece of land for her 

when he brought her to 

Chinsegut (when Abe 

Lincoln was still in the 

Senate).



Michael Lee Correia wrote of Lizzie 

in 1998 for the Fall issue of Tampa 

Bay History:

Lizzie had a dry sense of humor, 

which may explain why she would 

charge people 25 cents to enter the 

gate at the bottom of Chinsegut 

Hill…Margaret Robins once noted, 

“she walked as (if) she was The 

Queen of Sheba!”…She was also 

eccentric, outspoken, and assertive 

with both blacks and whites.  Lisa 

Von Borowsky remembered, “I 

would drive her to town.  Negro men 

would be sitting by the side of the 

store and she’d call them over to 

the car.  ‘You go in there and get me 

some backie (tobacco),’”  A 

granddaughter remembers, “If she 

didn’t like you, she’d tell you.”



Aunt Lizzie lived to 90 years 

on Chinsegut Hill.  As a mid-

wife she  birthed more of the 

community children (both 

black and white) than any of 

the local Doctors.  Lisa Von 

Borowsky said it was 

unlikely she ever charged 

for her serves.

She was famous for 

smoking her corncob pipe 

and manipulating whomever 

she could to go to the store 

and fetch her tobacco.

She owned the car in the 

background of this photo, 

but didn’t drive and always 

convinced someone else to 

chauffer her. 

Lizzie died June 8, 1938.



Fielder Harris was another former slave who befriended Raymond 

and helped raise him as a boy.  Robins made him foreman in 

1905, making Harris the boss of white and black employees.  

Actions like this infuriated local segregationists.   



Fielder Harris 

was so close to 

the Robinses 

that he named 

his children 

after them, 

Raymond and 

Margaret.  This 

photo is Fielder 

with wife, Pet, 

her daughter 

and their son, 

Raymond, 

1914.



Raymond said of Fielder in 

1924,”Uncle Fielder was during 

those impressionable years (as a 

boy at Bodine Grove) my closest 

associate.  Unable to read or write, 

his mind was filled with 

immemorial wisdom of the field 

and farm, forest and stream.  A 

wise fisherman and mighty hunter, 

he knew the signs and ways of 

fish, fowl and beast.  He fished by 

the moon’s phases; planted crops 

and trees and killed hogs and 

hunted deer and bear by the same 

high wisdom….He was the best 

axmen, oarsman, runner, wrestler 

and jumper in the county.  He was 

a master of horsemanship; broke 

the wildest of mules, tamed range 

cattle and was altogether my ideal 

for those seven years.”



By all accounts Robins was 

an interesting man.  He 

worked as a labor organizer, 

gold miner, lawyer, 

humanitarian, diplomat, and 

a political advisor to the five 

presidents who processed  

FDR.  Though they had 

different positions, 

especially on Prohibition, 

FDR granted Raymond a 

spontaneous meeting that 

lasted two hours.



Colonel Raymond Robins was a 

spiritual man with deep 

convictions and ideals.  His 

honorary title of Colonel was 

bestowed upon him when he 

served in the Red Cross in 

Russia (June 1917-May 1918). 

He wrote this to Margaret on 14 

April 1918:  “For four months I 

have been the link between the 

government of Russia and the 

government of the United 

States.  I am still apparently 

trusted by both though we have 

had awful strains…”. 



As a Red Cross volunteer Raymond was an unofficial diplomat in 

Russia during the revolution in 1917-18.  When it became apparent 

that the Bolsheviks would seize power, he met with Lenin in an 

attempt to keep Russia involved in WWI.  Upon his return to the US, 

he was a tireless advocate of US-Soviet cooperation.  FDR 

recognized the Soviets in 1933 after Raymond visited Russia again.  

He stands on the left in the group photo.



The couple helped 

Teddy Roosevelt’s ill-

fated “Bull Moose” 

Presidential campaign.  

Raymond himself 

became active in 

politics.  Here he is 

sworn in as chairman of 

the Illinois Progressive 

Party with Margaret by 

his side, Chicago.  In 

1914, he made an 

unsuccessful bid for 

Illinois Senator on the 

Progressive ticket.



Raymond in action: on the street and at the pulpit.  He was a tireless and 

well-known orator of his day, making frequent speaking tours across 

America and Europe.  He also enjoyed giving sermons on Sundays.
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Margaret Dreier Robins (6 September 1868 – 21 February 

1945) was a remarkable person in her own right.  She was a 

long-term activist in women’s suffrage, child labor, women’s 

rights, and civil rights. Here she appears beside her beloved 

flowers, circa 1930.  Note the ventilator and widow’s walk on 

the roof.



Chicago, circa 1910. (L)Margaret marches with suffragettes.  

(R)She confers with workers at a settlement house.  Settlement 

houses served as places for the working poor to get on their feet 

and educate themselves.  Raymond and Margaret were friends of 

Jane Addams, who started the famous Hull House in Chicago.



Margaret’s most 

notable position was 

President of the 

National Women’s 

Trade Union League 

which she held for over 

20 years. From just 

1907-1922, the League 

supported massive 

strikes with money, 

food, legal defense, 

and public education. 

They also advocated 

for legislating limited 

hours, a minimum 

wage, and safe working 

conditions.



Margaret was the 

founder of the 

International Congress 

of Working Women 

(1919-1923) which met 

in Geneva. Seated third 

in photo, Robins chaired 

the first ICWW in 1919, 

a meeting that gathered 

representatives from 

nineteen countries to 

discuss and promote fair 

labor standards for 

women. Among other 

demands, the Congress 

called for a universal 

eight-hour workday and 

legally binding maternity 

leave for working 

women. 



Raymond and Margaret made Chinsegut their year-round residence in 

1924, making extensive renovations inside and cultivating the grounds 

outside.  This began a glorious era of upgrades for Chinsegut.



Prominent guests to the manor were common.  From left to 

right: Mrs. Thomas Edison, Margaret Robins, Thomas 

Edison, Dr. & Mrs. Small, unknown, and overseer of Civilian 

Conservation Corps workers R.T. Long, Circa 1933.  



Large parties and religious ceremonies were 

commonplace, but as prohibitionists, Raymond and 

Margaret served nothing stronger than fresh-squeezed 

orange juice. 497 guests received  Jane Addams, 

March 1932.



Lisa von Borowsky: horticulturalist, caretaker, and “Daughter of 

Chinsegut Hill” hired by Raymond and Margaret to look after the 

house and grounds while her employers worked in Chicago and 

elsewhere.  



Borowsky and Robins on a camping expedition, 

circa 1930. 



This tower stored 

water for year-

round use.  Note 

the giant stand of 

bamboo to the 

right.  Several 

varieties of 

bamboo can still 

be found on the 

grounds.  The 

Robinses prided 

themselves on 

importing plants 

from all over the 

world, such as 

citrus from 

Algeria.



It was said that one could see the Gulf of Mexico from 

the water tower on clear days.  The rotten structure was 

demolished in 1969.



The view from the old widow’s walk must have been 

impressive as well.  This photo was taken from atop the water 

tower.



After losing their savings in the Depression, Raymond donated his 

estate to the federal government as a “Sanctuary.”  He wanted to 

develop ways to help farmers succeed in Florida.  Federal agencies 

such as the Civilian Conservation Corps worked on the site, and the 

overseer’s cabin still stands today.  As a result of their donation, the 

Robinses could live there tax-free until their deaths.



A great lover of nature, Raymond asked that a large 

portion of his estate be maintained as a nature 

preserve.  Today, the preserve is a nature center run by 

Florida Fish and Wildlife.



While owned by the government innovations with cattle were 

commonplace.  Red Poll cows (on the left) in milking stalls; staff 

extracting a blood sample (on the right).  Until 2012 this work was 

continued by Dept. of Agriculture’s Experimental Agricultural Station, 

which surrounds Chinsegut Hill. 



Drought tolerant cattle were breed.  Seen here are Brahman.



Aerial View from ca. 1932



Civil Works Administration was a temporary agency 

in the winter of 1933-34 created to get the work of 

FDR’s New Deal underway.



CCC Memorial Fountain

With the timing of Robins 

donation, April 9, 1932, CCC A-1 

Agriculture Camp could have 

been the prototype for the New 

Deal’s Civilian Conservation 

Corps under the Emergency  

Conservation Program









Cattle Barn

The following  thirteen slides were all from the archives 

of USDA Agricultural Experiment Station and shared by 

their historian, Myra Rooks.  They were on display at the 

75th Celebration of the facility on May 25, 2007.







Milk house being constructed near Cattle Barn.

A milking house was built between the two.





Red Poll Cattle for in their milking stalls.



Foundation for Hen Laying House, August 28, 1932



Old poultry bldg, remodeled for office, chicken 

killing room and lab with microscope.



Aerial of Poultry production



Concrete-macadam Road Construction, 1934







Civil Works 

Aministration



Cabin of R T Long, Overseer for CCC, 1933





The Robinses sponsored Christmas parties for the community here in the 

Stone Lodge.  Margaret also paid for a visiting nurse for the area and 

sponsored the first library.  She and Lisa grew greenhouse plants and 

sold them to raise the funds.



USDA office built by the CCC



Another view of the USDA office



Robins influenced the construction of a bus stop at now US 41 and Snow 

Memorial Highway for the convenience his many guests.  A phone call 

from the station to the Manor provided a car for the last mile up the Hill.



Raymond and Hass, 

the Great Dane

Raymond was very 

much involved in 

the Federal 

management of the 

Chinsegut Hill.  

Many  letters still 

exist that he wrote 

to the foreman on 

site and to 

Washington, DC.



George Cason, Robert Holcombe, Emory Cason 

and Lisa Von Borowsky planting Cypress on the 

edge of Lake Lindsay, Dec. 1935



George Cason, Robert Holcombe, Emory Cason and 

Lisa Von Borowsky probably working as part of the 

Works Progress Administration efforts per the date: 

Dec. 1935



The Federal connection with Chinsegut Hill helped est. Withlacoochee Land 

Demonstration Resettlement Project



Mr. Robins fell while pruning a 

tree in 1935, but he would not 

allow paralysis to still his body 

or spirit.  He insisted on 

remaining mobile in his custom-

built walker.  He still enjoyed 

pruning his plants, evidenced 

by his array of tools at his side.  



Raymond continued 

toenjoy an active 

lifestyle.  Photo at right: 

in his wheeled pruning 

chair with University of 

Florida President, John J. 

Tigert.



Despite his disability, 

Raymond insisted on 

maintaining his bedroom 

on the second floor.  He 

climbed the stairs himself, 

aided by his strong arms 

and a series of handles 

drilled into the walls, as 

can be seen in the left of 

this photo of the east wing 

staircase.



Most of all, Robins liked to climb his beloved “Ascension Oak,” 

or “Sunrise Oak.”  A small stairway leads up to a platform facing 

east, where Robins meditated every morning as he watched 

the sun rise, followed by a cold outside shower.



Margaret died in February 21,1945, and Raymond followed 

September 30, 1954, both were buried beside the Altar Oak, 

where Raymond gave sermons on Sundays.  The inscription 

reads, “Into this Altar Oak on Chinsegut Hill have been absorbed 

through the good earth the mortal remains of Raymond Robins—

Margaret Dreier Robins”. The property reverted to the federal 

government and was held briefly by the University of Florida. 



In 1958 the University of South Florida (USF) took over the 

property from University of Florida and has maintained the 

manor and the grounds till 2012.



During USF’s early 

years, the site hosted 

extensive conferences 

between students, 

faculty, and 

administrators.  This 

photo was taken during 

such a conference in 

1964. 



Faculty and 

administrators 

met to discuss 

university 

issues, build 

team spirit, and 

relax.  In this 

photo, faculty 

enjoy a leisurely 

dinner in the 

manor house.



The manor house serves as 

a fine example of frame 

vernacular architecture, with 

bricks made from sand 

quarried at the site. 



This chimney is an interesting feature.  The third floor  

three-paneled window was later obstructed by a 

chimney rising from a first-floor fireplace.  A good 

example of the house’s gradual “organic” development.



Many of the house’s original furnishings remain today.  This 

picture was taken on the third floor.  To the left is the curious 

chimney/fireplace running through the bay window.



First floor hallway and                 

staircase



First floor dining room with vintage furniture



Use of the facilities is open to the public, and 

has provided an ideal setting for conferences, 

retreats, and celebrations.



Aerial View, 1962.  Note the old water tower just beyond 

the manor. The new one stands to the left of it.



When USF first leased the manor house it was valued at less than 

$1,000.  USF leaders have been wise enough to realize that the 

property is priceless. Chinsegut Hill serves as a prominent symbol 

of our to community history, and our colorful traditions. 



17th of August 1932

From Raymond 

Robins to University 

of Florida President, 

John J. Tigert






